STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Jan 15 2021
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County

Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODNEY JEROME FURTICK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001920

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in Appellant’s trial for criminal sexual conduct and burglary where it allowed the prosecution to impeach Appellant with “sanitized” convictions (two convictions for second-degree assault and battery referred to as misdemeanors and one conviction for third-degree burglary referred to as a felony), where the convictions were inadmissible under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE and *Colf*¹, since the court’s approach implicitly determined that it would not exclude evidence of prior convictions under Rule 609(a)(1)?

¹ *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2017, a Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree. R. 515. Appellant was also indicted for burglary in the first degree. R. 151, ll. 5-8. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., and a jury, from November 4 – 6, 2019. R. 1; R. 14. Appellant was represented by Elizabeth Fullwood and Robert Madsen. R. 14. The State was represented by Suzanne Mayes and Rhonda Patterson. R. 14.

Appellant was found guilty of the lesser-included offense of criminal sexual conduct in the second degree and he was found not guilty of burglary in the first degree. R. 503, ll. 6-14. The court sentenced Appellant to twenty years' imprisonment. R. 513, ll. 8-10; R. 517.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5–6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). This court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. On review, we are limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. *Id.* This Court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence. *Id.* The admission and exclusion of evidence is largely a matter of trial judge discretion and his rulings will not be overturned on appeal unless he manifestly abuses his discretion and the defendant suffered prejudice as a result. *State v. Thompson*, 305 S.C. 496, 502, 409 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 1991).

“The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial court’s discretion, provided the trial court conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 591, 828 S.E.2d 203, 209 (2019) (internal alterations and quotations omitted) (quoting *State v. Dunlap*, 346 S.C. 312, 324, 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2001)).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in Appellant’s trial for criminal sexual conduct and burglary where it allowed the prosecution to impeach Appellant with “sanitized” convictions (two convictions for second-degree assault and battery referred to as misdemeanors and one conviction for third-degree burglary referred to as a felony), where the convictions were inadmissible under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE and *Colf*², since the court’s approach implicitly determined that it would not exclude evidence of prior convictions under Rule 609(a)(1).

Appellant’s convictions fell under Rule 609(a)(1) but the trial court determined they should be “sanitized” so that their admission would not be precluded by the evidence rules. The court’s decision to admit Appellant’s prior convictions as unnamed felonies and misdemeanors was an improper application of Rule 609, SCRE. By adopting this approach, the trial court implicitly determined that it would not exclude convictions under Rule 609(a)(1).

The court’s ruling also failed to recognize that even if the convictions were probative of Appellant’s credibility, admitting the convictions in such a blatantly “sanitized” form stripped them of probative value and did little to mitigate prejudice.

Relevant facts

J.H. (Complainant), who was from Wisconsin, moved to Cayce with her husband and one-year-old child in August of 2015. R. 167, l. 1 – 168, l. 23. Complainant had no car, she had limited access to a telephone, and she had been medicated for depression for many years. R. 169, ll. 14-17; R. 171, ll. 21-22; R. 195, ll. 18-24. Complainant was soon-to-be both evicted and divorced. R. 167, ll. 12-19; R. 198, ll. 4-25.

² *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000).

As defense counsel would later argue, “She was unhappy in [her] marriage.” R. 473, ll. 20-21.

Appellant was friendly with Complainant’s husband and came over regularly. R. 195, l. 25 – 196, l. 2; R. 170, ll. 15-17. Appellant would testify at his trial that on November 18, 2015, he had consensual sex with Complainant. R. 408, l. 9 – 412, l. 24. Appellant would also reveal that he and Complainant had consensual sex on a prior occasion in October. R. 391, l. 21 – 398, l. 19.

Complainant denied she ever had consensual sex with Appellant and she claimed that he pushed his way into her home and raped her on the evening of November 15, 2018. R. 174, l. 4 – 182, l. 18; R. 194, l. 13 – 195, l. 12. According to Complainant, she did not try to resist the rape because Appellant threatened to hurt her child if she did so. R. 179, l. 18 – 182, l. 25.

Complainant reported the alleged rape to her neighbor and the neighbor called 911. R. 210, l. 12 – 212, l. 2; R. 217, ll. 6-8. Complainant was taken to the hospital and she was given a sexual assault examination. R. 261, l. 13 – 280, l. 4. She provided police officers with Appellant’s description and first name. R. 292, l. 2 – 293, l. 1. When officers questioned Appellant, he denied knowing Complainant and her husband, and he said there was no reason his DNA would be at their home. R. 307, l. 24 – 312, l. 25.

Months later, DNA analysis confirmed that Appellant and Complainant did have sex. R. 313, l. 7 – 314, l. 19; R. 367, l. 1 – 368, l. 13. According to SLED, DNA was found in semen collected during Complainant’s sexual assault examination and it matched Appellant’s DNA. R. 367 l. 1 – 368, l. 11.

Appellant’s trial took place in 2019. Prior to Appellant’s testimony, the solicitor moved to impeach Appellant with prior convictions: (1) third-degree burglary from 2010; (2) petit

larceny from 2012; (3) second-degree assault and battery from 2012; (4) second-degree assault and battery from 2012; and (5) property offense, third or greater from 2015. R. 376, ll. 5-14.

The court noted that the petit larceny and the property offense were crimes involving dishonesty and defense counsel agreed. The parties agreed to refer to the property offense, third or greater as a petit larceny. R. 376, l. 15 – 377, l. 6.

However, defense counsel objected to the admissibility of Appellant’s third-degree burglary and second-degree assault and battery convictions and asked the court to “keep [those convictions] out under Rule 609(a)(1).” R. 377, ll. 10-20. Defense counsel argued the burglary and assault convictions were “very similar in nature” to the crimes for which Appellant was on trial. R. 377, ll. 10-20.

The court noted that *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006), “holds that a conviction for burglary is not probative of truthfulness.” R. 378, ll. 7-9. “[T]hen you’ve got the problem with *State versus Howard*³ with the similarity of prior convictions.” R. 378, ll. 12-14.

The court also cited *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000). R. 378, ll. 15-16. The court indicated that it was familiar with *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 203 (2019), and stated that, “where you have a swearing contest between two people the impeachment value of the crime is all the more important as opposed to less important.” R. 382, l. 16 – 383, l. 4. The court offered that it believed of Appellant’s trial: “it is a swearing contest.” R. 380, ll. 6-7.

As to Appellant’s conviction for burglary in the third degree, the court decided that the solicitor could not “specifically say a burglary,” but could refer to the conviction as a “felony that carries more than one year.” R. 379, ll. 4-19. The court stated its decision was because “the

³ *State v. Howard*, 396 S.C. 173, 720 S.E.2d 511 (Ct. App. 2011).

issue of credibility is quite important in this case” but that since Appellant was standing trial for burglary, the offense was of too “similar [a] nature.” R. 378, l. 25 – 379, l. 6.

As to Appellant’s convictions for assault and battery in the second degree, the court found they were “fair game.” “[T]hey’re not so similar as to warrant exclusion” and “since it is a swearing contest . . . that makes the use of those convictions all the more valuable to the State.” R. 380, ll. 3-10. Defense counsel initially responded to the ruling by asking the convictions be referred to as misdemeanors but quickly changed course and asked the court to exclude the assault and battery convictions since they were not probative of credibility. R. 380, l. 11 – 381, l. 23. Defense counsel argued that assault “doesn’t have anything to do with truthfulness.” R. 381, ll. 16-17. Defense counsel pointed out that prior convictions may not be admitted to show “habit.” R. 381, ll. 17-19. “It’s just for the truthfulness, the ability to impeach his current testimony, and we don’t think under 403 that the assault . . . there’s just no way that those are more probative than prejudicial.” R. 381, ll. 19-23.

The solicitor argued the convictions should be admitted because: “They’re simply allowed under the rule because they carry more than a year.” R. 381, l. 24 – 382, l. 2; R. 378, ll. 7-11. Although the solicitor offered no facts or circumstances about the assault and battery convictions (or about the burglary conviction), she would later say, during sentencing, that Appellant’s convictions for second-degree assault and battery “were pled down from criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree.” R. 508, ll. 11-15.

The court broke for the evening, and when the parties reconvened, the court advised that as to the second-degree assault and battery convictions,

I’ve looked at the five factors, I’ve considered it. Doing a 403 balancing analysis, I think that the **impeachment value mostly outweighs but I cannot say substantially outweighs the danger**

of unfair prejudice⁴ and the key to . . . my reasoning is that by allowing the jury to hear that he was convicted of assault and battery in the second degree is tantamount to basically suggesting improperly to the jury that the [d]efendant has a propensity towards violence, a propensity to assault people, and, of course, sexual assault is one of the charges that he's facing.

So I'll ask the State to simply limit your inquiry of the [d]efendant as it relates to that conviction; that he was convicted in 2012 of two misdemeanor offenses that carry more than a year in prison . . .

. . . .

. . . [T]he way that I would allow the State to go into this, and it's how it's done in other parts . . . of the state **in order to sanitize the conviction, but the burglary third from 2010 I will allow the State to characterize that as a felony punishable by greater than a year, a petit larceny from 2012. The 2012 assault convictions may be referred to as two counts—two misdemeanors carrying more than a year, and then the 2015 larceny. So that's how that can be elicited.**

R. 385, l. 19 – 387, l. 14 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel objected to the “sanitization” of the offenses.

[O]ur objection at the end for the burglary and the assault and battery . . . the word ‘sanitize,’ our position would be if the rules don't allow it, if you can't fit a square box into a round hole, then why should we sand off the corners of the square box and now push it through the hole? I didn't see anything where that was addressed in any of our caselaw and so our position would be if the rules don't allow it, then it just shouldn't come in, it shouldn't be, quote unquote, sanitized. In other words, hey, let's do the

⁴ This ruling was a misapplication of Rule 609. When analyzing whether the conviction of a defendant should be admitted under Rule 609(a)(1), the court must consider whether “the **probative** value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused,” not whether the **impeachment** value outweighs prejudicial effect. Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE (emphasis added). While impeachment value is a component of probative value, impeachment value is merely one factor to be considered pursuant to *Colf*. However, the analysis of probative value versus prejudicial effect considers all five of the *Colf* factors. *Colf*, 337 S.C. at 627, 525 S.E.2d at 248. Moreover, where the witness is the accused, as here, the test is simply whether the probative value of the conviction outweighs its prejudicial effect, not whether the probative value is “substantially” outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE.

State a solid and even though it doesn't comply to the rules, let's let them do something that the rules don't necessarily allow them to do . . .

R. 387, l. 16 – 388, l. 7 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel reiterated that per the reasoning in *Bryant, supra*, the offenses “are just not probative of truthfulness, and so that is ultimately our objection . . .” R. 388, ll. 12-15. Defense counsel clarified that although the defense would bring out Appellant’s prior convictions in the manner specified by the court during Appellant’s direct testimony to lessen the impact, “we certainly want to preserve our objections with that . . .” R. 386, l. 19 – 387, l. 4.

The court ruled,

I understand your position and you do have a running objection. My—my opinion is that the prejudice flows from the similar nature of the crime, so calling something a burglary when you’re on trial for burglary or calling something a rape when you’re on trial for rape is what creates the prejudice if they have that prior conviction for that similar type of offense and **the prejudice is substantially lessened if you’re simply allowed to inquire as to a nameless felony or a nameless misdemeanor**, and so that’s the reasoning that this court is employing it and I think other judges has employed routinely.

R. 388, l. 21 – 389, l. 7 (emphasis added).

When Appellant testified, defense counsel brought out Appellant’s prior convictions during direct examination in accordance with the court’s ruling. R. 391, ll. 1-10. The solicitor brought the sanitized convictions out again during her cross examination of Appellant. R. 419, l. 24 – 420, l. 18. After closing arguments, the court gave a limiting instruction to the jury that evidence of Appellant’s prior convictions could be considered for credibility but not as proof of guilt. R. 492, l. 20 – 493, l. 2.

The jury deliberated for three and a half hours, and it ultimately acquitted Appellant of burglary in the first degree. R. 501, l. 19 – 503, l. 10. It also acquitted Appellant of criminal

sexual conduct in the first degree but found him guilty of criminal sexual conduct in the second degree. R. 503, ll. 11-14. The court sentenced Appellant to twenty years in prison. R. 513, ll. 8-10.

Discussion

I. Rule 609 and *Colf*

The admissibility of Appellant's prior convictions for third-degree burglary and second-degree assault and battery is governed by Rule 609(a), SCRE, which provides:

For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,

(1) evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and **evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused;** and

(2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

For the purposes of this rule, a conviction includes a conviction resulting from a trial or any type of plea, including a plea of *nolo contendere* or a plea pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

(emphasis added).

To admit Appellant's prior convictions for burglary and assault here, the trial court was required to find the probative value of the prior convictions outweighed their prejudicial effect. "[U]nder Rule 609(a)(1), when the accused chooses to testify during his trial, if the State seeks to introduce impeachment evidence that the accused has been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for more than one year, the evidence is admissible if the State establishes the

probative value of admitting the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect upon the accused.” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 593, 828 S.E.2d 203, 210 (2019).

Here, the State made no presentation or argument as to the probative value of Appellant’s prior convictions. Instead, the solicitor merely argued the convictions should be admitted because: “They’re simply allowed under the rule because they carry more than a year.” R. 381, l. 24 – 382, l. 2; R. 378, ll. 7-11.

Similarly, the court articulated no findings as to why the prior convictions were probative of credibility. Instead, the court only ruled the convictions had “impeachment value” but were prejudicial due to their similarity to the offenses for which Appellant was on trial. R. 385, l. 9 – 386, l. 10; R. 388, l. 21 – 389, l. 7. *See State v. Elmore*, 368 S.C. 230, 238–39, 628 S.E.2d 271, 275 (Ct. App. 2006) (current state of the law does not mandate trial court make on-the-record specific finding as long as record reveals trial judge did engage in a meaningful balancing of probative value and prejudicial effect before admitting a prior conviction under 609(a)(1)).

“However, as we have urged trial courts, when balancing the probative value of a prior conviction under Rule 609(a)(1) against the prejudicial effect, meaningful appellate review is best achieved when the trial court articulates its ruling and the basis for it.” *Elmore*, 368 S.C. at 239, 628 S.E.2d at 275 (alterations and quotations omitted). “An on-the-record balancing test is particularly important for prior similar convictions under Rule 609(a)(1) because the similarity of a prior crime to the crime charged heightens the prejudicial value of the crime.” *State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 212, 221, 682 S.E.2d 42, 47 (Ct. App. 2009) (internal alterations and quotations omitted) (citing *Elmore, supra*).

In *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court “adopted the five-factor analysis employed by federal courts when weighing the

probative value of prior convictions against the prejudicial effect to the accused.” *Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 594, 828 S.E.2d at 211. “These factors include: 1) The impeachment value of the prior crime. 2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history. 3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime. 4) The importance of the defendant’s testimony. 5) The centrality of the credibility issue.” *Id.* (hereinafter, *Colf* factors).

These factors are not exclusive. *Id.* The burden of establishing admissibility is upon the State, the proponent of the evidence.” *State v. Howard*, 396 S.C. 173, 180, 720 S.E.2d 511, 515 (Ct. App. 2011).

1. Impeachment value of prior convictions

The first factor the trial court must consider when weighing prejudice and probative value is the extent to which the prior crimes have impeachment value. *Colf*, 337 S.C. at 627, 525 S.E.2d at 248. “Impeachment value refers to how strongly the nature of the conviction bears on the veracity, or credibility of the witness.” *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 21-22, 732 S.E.2d 880, 887 (2012).

“[A] conviction for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession, beyond the basic crime itself, is not probative of truthfulness.” *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 517, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155 (2006). However, “[a]lthough prior convictions for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession are not crimes of dishonesty or false statement, which would result in automatic admissibility under Rule 609(a)(2), such convictions may still have impeachment value under Rule 609(a)(1).” *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. at 599, 828 S.E.2d at 213. “A rule of thumb is that convictions that rest on dishonest conduct relate to credibility, whereas crimes of violence, which may result from a myriad of causes, generally do not.” *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. at 22, 732 S.E.2d at 887.

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