**RECEIVED**

**Mar 10 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001920

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

RODNEY JEROME FURTICK, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3713

S.R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 874  
Lexington, SC 29071  
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Notably, all the cases cited by Appellant either ignore or fail to consider an informative aspect of prior convictions highlighted in Robinson: that a history of prior convictions may reveal “a continuing pattern of criminal behavior that could legitimately impact [the defendant’s] credibility in the eyes of the jury.” See id. at 600 828 S.E.2d at 214. In Robinson, the Supreme Court of South Carolina noted, analyzing that defendant’s prior convictions “illustrate[d] closeness in time between the prior offenses and the offense for which Robinson was on trial, revealing a pattern of behavior that legitimately evoked questions of Robinson’s credibility.” Id. In the instant case, Appellant’s sanitized convictions, combined with the prior convictions not disputed on appeal, showed a consistent pattern of criminal behavior: he had five prior convictions in the five years prior to the current offense. Similar to Robinson, Appellant’s pattern of disregard for the law directly impacted his credibility and was an important consideration for the jury.

Ultimately, all of the cases cited by Appellant do not contradict the fact that both federal and South Carolina law recognize and approve the use of sanitization of prior convictions, provided the sanitization process is not used without also performing the balancing test required before admitting prior convictions. In the instant case, the trial judge performed the balancing test and concluded the sanitized convictions were admissible. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in making this ruling.

**c) Appellant’s prior convictions were properly admitted pursuant to Rule 609 and**

**Colf**

**Issue Preservation: Appellant’s Failure to Argue the Colf Factors at Trial**

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the

issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912–13 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Moreover, a party cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); see State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”).

In his brief, Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting the contested prior convictions based on his analysis of the five Colf factors. However, Appellant’s arguments for three of the five Colf factors are not preserved for review. Despite the trial judge performing an

on-the-record analysis which considered both Rule 609 and the Colf factors, Appellant made arguments which, viewed in the light most favorable to him, only applied to two of the Colf factors: (1) Appellant claimed “assault and battery has absolutely nothing to do with truthfulness whatsoever”; and (2) the challenged convictions should be inadmissible because they were too similar to the crimes for which Appellant was on trial. Appellant did not argue or challenge the trial judge’s findings regarding the timeliness of the prior convictions in regards to his trial, the importance of Appellant’s testimony, or the centrality of the credibility issue to the trial; in fact, trial counsel’s statements indicate, if anything, agreement with the trial judge’s findings as to these factors. Accordingly, Appellant’s arguments as to three of the five Colf factors are unpreserved for review. See Bailey, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584.

#### Appellant’s Rule 609 Analysis Improperly Considers His Burglary Acquittal

The State also notes that Appellant’s Rule 609(a)(1) and Colf analysis greatly confuses the facts of this case. First and foremost, Appellant acts as if the unmodified convictions were presented to the jury. See, e.g., (Br. of Appellant p.17). However, the record (and both parties’ briefs) demonstrate this was not the case. Any discussion of the challenged prior convictions must weigh their potential prejudice from the sanitized information presented to the jurors. It is also important to note that Appellant, in an apparent effort to bolster his argument, analyzes the potential prejudice the prior convictions had on his burglary charge. However, such analysis is inappropriate, confusing, and pointless because Appellant was acquitted of burglary. This Court should ignore any of Appellant’s arguments regarding prejudice as to this acquitted charge.

#### The Colf Factors as Applied to Appellant’s Case

Assuming Appellant’s arguments regarding the Colf factors are preserved, the record shows the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the prior convictions.

## 1. Impeachment Value of the Prior Convictions

Appellant argues there was “no showing” that Appellant’s prior convictions for burglary and second-degree assault and battery reflected dishonesty, meaning this factor weighed in favor of excluding the prior convictions. However, Appellant’s argument ignores the guidance provide in Robinson: it is not necessary for crimes to involve dishonesty or a false statement for them to be admissible pursuant to Rule 609. Id. at 599, 828 S.E.2d at 213. As explained by the Robinson court, prior convictions for crimes involving false statement or dishonesty are automatically admissible pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2), and interpreting Rule 609(a)(1) to require some degree of dishonesty in admitted crimes would mean “no convictions would ever have impeachment value under Rule 609 unless they were crimes of dishonesty or false statement . . . . Rule 609(a)(2) would inevitably swallow Rule 609(a)(1).” Id. The court also noted that Rule 609(a)(1) prior convictions do indicate to a jury that the accused is someone who might not be credible, and “[i]t was within the trial court’s discretion to conclude that because Robinson ha[d] prior convictions for such offenses, he legitimately might not be considered credible” Id. at 599–600, 828 S.E.2d at 213–14.

In the instant case, the trial judge determined Appellant’s frequent criminal history, which included numerous convictions in the years leading up to the crime, was evidence that challenged Appellant’s credibility and thus possessed impeachment value. This was of particular importance in this case because the defense focused its effort on discrediting Victim and portraying her as a liar who misrepresented a consensual encounter, which only increased the impeachment value of his prior convictions. Contrary to Appellant’s blanket assertion that convictions not involving dishonesty or false statements are inadmissible, both Robinson and Rule 609(a) flatly contradict his claim and allow for the admission of any convictions provided

they comply with Rule 609(a)(1). Accordingly, the trial judge properly exercised his discretion in finding the admission of the challenged prior convictions possessed impeachment value.

## 2. The Point in Time of the Conviction and Appellant's Subsequent History

Appellant argues his burglary and assault and battery convictions were remote in time because they all occurred between seven and nine years prior to trial. Again, Appellant's argument shows a fundamental misunderstanding of both Rule 609 and Colf. Rule 609(a)(1). Notably, Rule 609(b) allows the use of any conviction for the purposes of Rule 609(a)(1) which occurred within ten years of the conviction or release from said conviction. Rule 609(b) does establish a "presumption against admissibility of remote convictions," only convictions and sentences which occurred greater than ten years prior to trial, and even those convictions may be admitted if their probative value, supported by specific facts and circumstances, substantially outweighs their prejudicial effect. Rule 609(b), SCRE; Colf, 337 S.C. at 626, 525 S.E.2d at 248.

A Colf analysis of the timing of a prior conviction is slightly different: as clarified in Robinson, this factor focuses on the "closeness in time" between the prior offenses and the charge for which the defendant is on trial, not the trial itself. See Robinson, 426 S.C. at 600, 828 S.E.2d at 214. The Robinson court found that the named defendant's criminal history, which included convictions in 2007 and 2009, "reveal[ed] a pattern of behavior that legitimately evoked questions of Robinson's credibility" related to his 2011 offense. Id. In the instant case, the second-degree assault and battery convictions occurred only three years prior to the charged offense and the burglary charge occurred two years before those convictions. Further, these convictions were submitted in conjunction with three others for petit larceny and a property offense which also occurred during the five-year period up to the crime. Similar to Robinson,

Appellant's routine pattern of behavior evoked serious questions of his credibility and weighed in favor of the admission of the challenged offenses.

### 3. Similarity Between Past Crimes and the Charged Crimes

The third factor, the similarity of the past crimes to the crime(s) for which a defendant stands trial, weighs entirely in the State's favor. In Colf, the South Carolina Supreme Court cautioned that "evidence of similar offenses inevitably suggest to the jury the defendant's propensity to commit the crime with which he is charged." Id. at 628, 525 S.E.2d at 249. By removing the names of these crimes, the trial judge eliminated the possibility that the jury would know that Appellant had prior convictions which were similar to his charges, and that these prior convictions could then be improperly used as propensity evidence. Accordingly, this factor also weighs in favor of admission by the trial judge.

### 4. Importance of Appellant's Testimony

Appellant argues this factor weighed against admission of the challenged prior convictions simply because "it was important for the jury to hear Appellant's side of the story" and "it was more important that the jury hear Appellant's testimony than it was that the jury hear of his convictions." (Br. of Appellant p.16). In addition to being unpreserved, Appellant's argument demonstrates another fundamental misunderstanding of Colf. As explained in Robinson: "Th[e] right [to testify] does not preclude the State from impeaching a defendant's credibility with prior convictions. If the defendant's right to testify were to trump all other considerations relevant to Colf and Rule 609, then a defendant could never be impeached with prior convictions." Robinson, 426 S.C. at 604, 828 S.E.2d at 216.

Notably, Appellant's briefing of this factor cites to federal cases pre-Colf which do not utilize anything similar to a Colf analysis. In fact, the case Appellant focuses on, U.S. v.

Lipscomb, 702 F.2d 1049 (D.C. Cir. 1983), involved a defendant who, with the knowledge that he would be impeached with prior convictions, elected not to testify. In the instant case, Appellant did elect to testify. In fact, Appellant's decision to testify is a tacit acknowledgement that the admission of the prior convictions did not prevent him from presenting his version of events to the jury. This factor weighs in favor of admission of the challenged prior convictions.

#### 5. The Centrality of the Credibility Issue

The fifth factor, the importance of credibility to the trial, also weighed in favor of admitting all of prior convictions tendered by the State. “[W]hen credibility is central to a case, the introduction of prior convictions for impeachment purposes becomes even more legitimate.” Robinson, 426 S.C. at 606, 828 S.E.2d at 217. Further, “[i]f the jury must choose between the defendant's credibility and that of another witness, there would be a high probative value in admitting evidence of prior convictions to impeach the defendant's credibility.” Id.

Appellant's entire defense strategy was to use his testimony to try and contradict and/or reframe the testimony provided by the State's witnesses, especially Victim's. Not only did trial counsel attempt to discredit Victim by questioning her about the details of the attack that she was unable to remember, such as exactly how long it lasted, but trial counsel also went after aspects of Victim's life that appeared entirely unrelated to the attack, such as the financial issues she and Dean experienced and even her past diagnosis of depression and her use of medication for it. Appellant directly assailed Victims' credibility and reputation by claiming she participated in a long-term affair with him and made no efforts to conceal such indiscretion from her young child. Appellant also attempted to discredit the testimonies of the officers who interviewed him after the sexual assault. By directly assaulting the credibility of the witnesses, Appellant only increased the value of introducing the challenged convictions at trial.

## Harmless Error

Even if the admission of the prior convictions was improper, their admission was harmless error. The evidence presented at trial, including Appellant's incredible testimony, left no room for doubt as to his guilt.

Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006); State v. Heller, 399 S.C. 157, 171, 731 S.E.2d 312, 320 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where a defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. Bryant at 518, 633 S.E.2d at 156. "A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case: No definite rule of law governs a finding of harmless error; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Further, it is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence." Heller, 399 S.C. at 171, 731 S.E.2d at 320.

In the instant case, all the evidence at trial confirmed Appellant had sexual relations with Victim on the night in question; even the defense did not dispute that fact. The defense's only strategy was to discredit nearly all of the state's witnesses to make it appear as if, most notably, Victim and the police officers who met with him were all lying. As to Victim, trial counsel tried to signal that she was lying about a consensual sexual encounter, but provided no explanation as to why Victim reported this encounter and appeared visibly distressed to the numerous witnesses who saw her in the hours after the attack. Further, Appellant failed to provide a credible explanation as to why he denied knowing Victim or having sexual contact with her when he was interviewed by police officers. Appellant's implausible, self-serving explanations for the State's

evidence was contradicted by the State's evidence and any reasonable juror, even in the absence of the disputed prior convictions, would have convicted Appellant based on the remainder of the evidence presented by the State. Accordingly, the error alleged by Appellant is harmless. See Bryant at 518, 633 S.E.2d at 156.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court be affirmed.